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1.0 Background

The author was asked by Letterewe Estate to carry out an archaeological investigation, consisting of a desk-based assessment and rapid walk-over survey of an area of proposed exclosure of deer to allow for regeneration of native woodland. The object of the evaluation was to identify all archaeological or historical features or areas of potential archaeological or historical interest  within or adjacent to the area of exclosure, to assess the potential impact of regeneration on these features and to recommend mitigation measures to minimize the impact of the scheme on the archaeological record

2.0 Methodology

A desk-based assessment was carried out, making use of all readily available data sources and archive material. This was followed by a rapid walk-over survey, carried out on 4.4.06 in weather conditions which were reasonably dry and clear with occasional snow flurries. Sites were logged using a hand-held GPS system.

3.0 Site Description

The area of proposed regeneration lies on the NE shore of Loch Maree, approximately 7km SE of Letterewe. The area is partly open ground and partly covered with mixed deciduous woodland. The trees give the appearance of being for the most part the same approximate age, and there is little regeneration at present. The woodland appears to be confined to below the contour along which the footpath runs; above this the ground rises steeply and has sparse vegetation cover. Two streams cross the area, the alluvium of which has probably contributed to the selection of the site for ancient settlement. The shoreline is partly rocky and partly shingle, allowing several locations suitable for boat access. Particularly in the areas of former arable ground around the ruined buildings, there is considerable bracken cover.
4.0 Archaeological Background
No systematic archaeological survey has been carried out in the vicinity of the present area of study.

The following site is recorded on the Highland Sites and Monuments Record (SMR):

· Coppachy township at NG 9815 6889, SMR no. NG96NE0004. Three roofed, two partially roofed, four unroofed buildings, four enclosures and two enclosed fields as recorded on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map of  1881

5.0 Historical Background

The earliest detailed survey of settlement in the Highlands, Timothy Pont’s survey of the 1580s, does not record Coppachy or any of the small townships on the east side of Loch Maree. Pont was, however, impressed by the woodlands on the lochside, commenting that the loch was ‘compasd about with many fair and tall woods as any in all the west of Scotland, in sum parts with hollyne in sum parts with fair and beautiful fyrrs of 60, 70, 80 foot of good and serviceable timber’  and ‘servicable timmer for masts and raes, in other places ar great plenty of excellent great oaks whaur may be sawin out planks of 4 sumtyms 5 feet broad.’ This, twenty years before the establishment of the ironworks at Letterewe, indicates that the woods were being commercially exploited, specifically for boat building. This would suggest that the inhabitants of the lochside were already experienced woodsmen by the time the ironworks created a demand for charcoal.
Sir George Hay, who established the ironworks at Letterewe in 1607, had been given use of the woods by the then owner of Letterewe, Mackenzie of Kintail, in return for renouncing his claim on lands in Lewis. He is known to have brought a workforce of skilled iron workers, referred to as ‘English’ but most likely to have been from Fife, with a few who came with the iron ore from Lancashire or Cumberland. These ironworkers remained in the area for several generations and some permanently settled in the parish, but initially they were regarded with suspicion by the locals and were granted permission to carry arms to protect themselves. They  are unlikely to have lived outwith their colony by the ironworks, leaving the local population unaltered demographically.
It has long been considered that the iron industry was responsible for the destruction of huge areas of ancient woodland. More recent thought is that the industry could not have survived without measures to conserve the woodland and careful management by coppicing. However, the impact on the woods of Loch Maree appears to have been severe. Black’s Guide to Scotland in 1857 records: ‘Towards the middle and upper portions of the lake, the banks exhibit a few stunted relics of an old pine forest, but otherwise there is not a tree, and very little grass to be seen’ It would appear that after the initial commercial exploitation of the woods for timber and charcoal, the levels of grazing first by the livestock of the lochside settlements and then by the commercial sheep farming of the 19th century, there was little opportunity for the woodland to recover
The area immediately around the settlement of Coppachy is likely to have been clear-felled centuries before the establishment of the iron industry to create arable land and allow the grazing of livestock.

In the latter part of the 17th century Letterewe estate was acquired from the Seaforth family by MacKenzie of Gairloch. In 1696. Charles, son of the sixth laird of Gairloch, became the progenitor of the family of MacKenzie of Letterewe. 
Roy’s military survey, carried out in the 1750s, records all the small townships on the east side of Loch Maree, comprising Letterewe, Furnace, Happachy (Coppachy) Rigolachy and Smiroaig (Smiorsair) At some time in the 19th century, the small tenants at these townships either left or were removed, to be replaced by shepherds and other estate workers. In 1803, when James Hogg made his tour of the Highlands, letterewe estate, although still in the ownership of MacKenzie of Letterewe, was let to a Mr McIntyre, who ‘had been from his youth an extensive dealer, both inn cattle and sheep…and now in company with some English gentlemen farms an extraordinary extent of land, consisting of the whole estates of Letterewe and Strathnashalloch, the former belonging to Mr MacKenzie, to whose sister he is married, and the other to Mr Davidson.’ Davidson of Tulloch is known to have cleared the small tenants of his estates to make way for sheep, and it is likely that this was also the fate of the tenants of MacKenzie of Letterewe. It is possible that they removed to the village of Poolewe which around this time was being established for the manufacture of woollen cloth. One John MacLean, resident in Petty in Inverness-shire in 1868, originated in Coppachy or Rhigolachy.
In 1835 Letterewe estate was sold to Meyrick Bankes. It is around this date that the first deer forests were being established in Wester Ross. Bankes’ interests certainly lay in sport rather than sheep farming, but the latter continued, although probably on a smaller scale, through the latter part of the 19th century, with two shepherds’ cottages maintained at Coppachy. Shepherds and their families are recorded on the 1881 and 1891 census returns. Sheep were eventually removed from the estate in the 1920s. After being sold to the Earl of Zetland in 1898, the estate was initially broken into smaller holdings then brought back together under the present owner. The policy of the present owner is to maintain the wilderness while encouraging the regeneration of the ancient woodlands along the loch side. A previous regeneration project is located immediately to the east of the present scheme.
6.0 Gazetteer of Archaeological Sites

The following features were noted during the walk-over survey. The list runs from NW to SE. GPS readings for buildings were taken at the SW corner
1. Two enclosed fields, centred on NG 9805 6995. Low rubble walling forming either two attached enclosures or one enclosure divided internally, measuring 350m NW-SE by 50m NE-SW. (Photo no. 1) Although the walling is poor quality, this is possibly dated to the period of sheep farming
2. Small enclosure at NG 9806 6996. Within the western of the two enclosures (site no. 1) is a small, rectangular enclosure, measuring 5m by 11m. In the SE corner of this is a possible rectangular building. This is, if the enclosures date to the period of sheep farming, a lambing pen and shepherd’s shelter.
3. Building, footings at NG 9815 6888. Low, grassy footings of a building aligned NW-SE. From the NW corner of the building the remains of a dyke run to the enclosure (site no. 1) This building is not recorded on the 1st edition OS map and may have been demolished to re-use the stone in the improvements of the shepherds’ cottage. It may represent a part of a farmstead of the original Coppachy township
4. Building at NG 9815 6889. Rough rubble walling standing up to 1m in height of a rectangular building measuring 8.4m by 4.3m and aligned NNE-SSW. This is recorded as roofed in 1881 but its alignment down the slope suggests an earlier building, possibly belonging to the original settlement but re-used as a barn or byre associated with the shepherds cottage (site 5). The SSW gable shows signs of repair or rebuilding (Photo no. 2)
5. Building, shepherds’ cottage at NG 9817 6887. An improved cottage with mortared walling and a fireplace in the west gable, a central doorway with flanking windows with traces of the wooden window frames, also a window opening in the back wall. The bank at the back of the house has been dug out. The house stands alone with no attached byre. It measures 11.4m by 5m and is aligned ESE-WNW. This is the most modern of the buildings at Coppachy and obviously one of the last to be occupied, probably until the 1920s when the shepherds were removed (Photo no. 3)
6. Building, site of, at  NG 9818 6888. The 1st edition OS map indicates a roofed building at this location. There are no visible footings, but within a small platform dug into the bank is an overgrown pile of stones which may represent a demolished building. The stones may be the residue from re-using the better stones in improving the shepherds’ cottage
7. Dykes, area of former cultivation centred on NG 9823 6884. Two rubble dykes run between sites 5 and 8, enclosing an area of former cultivation. The lower dyke serves partly as a retaining wall at the bottom edge of the terrace.
8. Building at NG 9825 6879. Rubble walling of a rectangular building measuring 7m by 3.9m and aligned NE-SW, with a doorway in the NW wall.
9. Farmstead at NG 9829 6881. A complex line of buildings measuring in total 31.75m and aligned NW-SE The main dwelling is in the centre and measures 10.2m in length, with an almost complete NW gable, (Photo no. 4). To the SE are two outbuildings or byres, and to the NW are two outbuildings and a platform representing a possible third. There are attached enclosures to the NE running almost the entire length of the complex and to the SW running down from the centre of the main dwelling
10. Bridge pier at NG 9837 6877. Where the footpath crosses the Allt Chopachaidh are the remains of a stone bridge pier which presumably supported a wooden footbridge (Photo no. 5)
11. Dykes, enclosures, centred on NG 9827 6972. On the west bank of the Allt Chopachaidh is the junction of three rubble dykes. One runs down the west bank of the stream, the second turns north to run towards site no. 8 and the third runs SE to cross the stream. At this junction are two small sub-rectangular enclosures without obvious entrances, possibly stackyards.
12. Dykes, enclosures, centred on NG 9829 6868 The third dyke of site no. 11 runs SE to site 12. Attached to this to the SW are a number of rough rubble and boulder dykes forming a group of sub-rectangular enclosures which may be stackyards, particularly as the corn kiln is located within these enclosures, and they are placed roughly equidistant to the two main areas of former cultivation (Photo no. 6)
13. Corn Kiln at NG 9829 6865. A small rubble structure aligned NE-SW. A mature tree is growing immediately above the bowl of the kiln which is, however, intact. The location of the kiln beside the stream would suggest that there had originally been a small horizontal mill on the stream, but this was not located. (Photos 7, 8)

14. Dyke, possible head dyke from NG 9833 6874 to NG 9838 6859. This section of rubble dyke runs from the Allt Chopachaidh to just NW of site 12. This is possibly the head dyke of the original settlement area.

15. Field Clearance piles, centred on NG 9818 6872. An arc of substantial field clearance piles, generally oval in shape,  form the north boundary of an area of open ground which was formerly arable. Some of the piles are colonized by mature trees. (Photo no. 9)
16. Field Clearance Piles, centred on NG 9822 6866. A row of substantial field clearance piles forming the SE boundary of the open area of former cultivation but also set back from the stream edge by what appears to be a cleared strip approximately 5, wide. The piles vary in their construction and content, from a spread pile of small, angular stones (Photo no. 10) at the SW end of the group, to a high, conical pile of larger, rounded stones (Photo no. 11)
17. Pathway, stream crossing at NG 9822 6864. A short section of cleared path leads NW from the edge of the SE open area of former cultivation to a crossing point on the Allt Chopachaidh where some stones appear to have been laid in the stream bed to form a ford. (Photo no. 12)

18. Area of Field Clearance Piles, centred on NG 9826 6862. An arc of low, mossy piles of large rounded stones forming the north boundary of the area of former cultivation. Notably, all the piles have been colonized by trees, which have not managed to establish themselves on the open ground. (Photo no. 13)

19. Rubble dykes, field boundaries at NG 9833 6856. Short sections of rubble dykes, possibly field clearance or terracing. The longest section runs NNW-SSE for 20m. Immediately west of this, another section runs NE-SW for 8m.
20. Bank, field boundary at NG 9832 6856. This bank or dyke follows the south side of a small watercourse for approximately 30m
21. Possible structure at NG 9831 6855. A small triangular pile of field clearance stones may be placed over the footings of a structure
22. Circular possible structure at NG 9830 6855. A small circular pile of field clearance stones may overlie an original structure
23. Field Clearance Pile at NG 9832 6852
24. Rubble Dyke at NG 9829 6845. A short section of rubble dyke on the ridge west of the area of former cultivation may represent the remains of a former boundary (Photo no. 14)
25. Building at NG 9837 6854. Rubble walling of a rectangular building measuring 8.25m by 3.7m and aligned NW-SE. The doorway is in the middle of the NE wall, on the upper side of the building. (Photo no. 15) Internally, the grooves for the cruck frame are visible, and collapsed timbers are still associated with the grooves (Photo no. 16) Although this building is not recorded on the 1st edition OS map, it is unlikely that the timbers would have survived so long if the building had been unroofed early in the 19th century
26. Platform, possible former structure at NG 9839 6854 A straight edged bank, rising to 1m in height, forms the east edge of a leveled platform which may originally have contained a structure, although no footings are visible.
27. Building at NG 9840 6854 A small rectangular building, measuring 3.7m by 2.7m and aligned NW-SE. There is an entranceway in the NW gable. The walling stands to no more than three courses in height to the front and is dug into the bank at the back. It is covered in bracken and would be completely obscured in summer (Photo no. 17)
28. Farmstead at NG 9842 6863. A dwelling with an attached byre or outhouse to the SE and a detached outhouse to the NW. The main building is 8.7m in length, with a central doorway, the attached byre is 6.5m and the detached outhouse is 7m in length with a doorway offset to the SE of the front wall. The internal walling of this building has curved stonework in the corners. There is an attached enclosure behind the buildings, the lochside footpath passes through this, and sections of rubble walling possibly represent another enclosure attached to the SW. This is recorded as an unroofed building and enclosure on the 1st edition OS map. (Photo no. 18)
29. Building at NG 9844 6858. A small rectangular building measuring 7.85m by 2.1m and aligned NNW-SSE The footings are low and obscured by bracken. This is recorded as an unroofed building on the 1st edition OS map of 1881. (Photo no.19 )
The following two sites are located within the existing fenced area to the east of the present area of study, but are included to complete the investigation of the township and to evaluate the impact of regeneration on the archaeological sites.

30. Farmstead at NG 9841 6851. Particularly neat stonework to what is probably full height on two of the three sections of the building. (Photo no. 20) The largest, possibly main building is at the SE end, measuring 11m in length and is the worst preserved, suggesting a possible sequence of usage. All the buildings are dug into the hill slope at the back. Attached to the  E and SE is an L-shaped enclosure, the lower part of which is raised, levelled and supported by a retaining wall. (Photo no. 21) This farmstead lies within an extant area of regeneration and is notably overgrown, with sizeable trees growing from the stonework
31. Rubble Dyke from NG 9838 6853 to NG 9839 6838 This rubble dyke runs from site 25 to the shore, running out into the water for a couple of metres. At one point a mature tree has grown over the dyke (Photo no. 22)
7.0 Archaeological Conclusions

The area of the present study covers almost exactly the area of settlement and associated land use of the township of Coppachy, thought to have been cleared at the beginning of the 19th century. This appears to not have been a nucleated settlement, or clachan, but to have consisted of four farmsteads, two SE of the Allt Chopachaidh and two to the NW, each consisting of one main building with both attached and detached outhouses and enclosures. There are three main areas of former cultivation, notably surrounded by substantial field clearance piles but with no evidence for rig cultivation. A fourth enclosed area to the NW, thought to have been used as sheep enclosures through the 19th century, was possibly also previously under cultivation. An area of small rectangular enclosures occupying a central position around a corn kiln was possibly stack yards and a horizontal mill may have been located nearby.
Evidence from the 1st edition OS map of 1881 indicates that the buildings at sites (4-6) 9 and 30 were roofed at this date and makes them most likely to have been the buildings occupied by shepherds and their families, in residence until the 1920s. Site no. 5 is the most recently built dwelling but is possibly on the site of an earlier building, as the adjacent structures, sites 3 and 4, are much earlier.
There is no clear archaeological evidence for activity associated with the charcoal industry of the early 17th century or with timber processing. This is not surprising if the township is considered to pre-date these industries. Trees would have been cleared for arable ground, possibly in the mediaeval period, and while the township probably benefited from the economic activities of charcoal processing, tree-felling and associated activities would have taken place outwith the area of the settlement

The removal of sheep around the 1920s probably allowed a degree of regeneration of the woodland, and the trees growing within the township probably date from this time. The increased vegetation cover within the existing fenced area demonstrates how quickly trees will recover with no grazing.
8.0 Recommendations for Mitigation and Management

The archaeological evidence suggests that the areas of open ground which have been earmarked for regeneration have been in fact open and under cultivation for centuries and as such are not, from an historical and archaeological viewpoint, the best locations to encourage regeneration. It is probable that within a few decades these open areas will become overgrown and lose their definition.

Bracken is already well established around many of the old buildings, and this problem will worsen if not controlled, although a point will be eventually reached where it is unable to compete with trees and other vigorous vegetation. Either way, the ruined buildings will become increasingly obscured and damaged, and the less-visible minor features such as dykes and enclosures will become overgrown.
The most serious danger to the standing buildings will be from saplings establishing themselves in the stonework, as can be seen in the buildings within the present regeneration scheme.
It is recommended that the area of the regeneration scheme be redesigned to exclude the majority of the standing buildings, to enable them to continue to be sited within an open landscape. Failing this, a programme of long term management include the removal of saplings and other vegetation from the buildings is recommended, leaving open ground around each group of buildings and enclosures. Both of these options would allow easier public access  for study or amenity.
9.0 Data Sources and Bibliography
The following data sources were consulted during the desk-based assessment:

· Highland Sites and Monuments record (SMR) held by the Archaeology Unit at Highland Council

· Census Returns for Years 1881 and 1891, held by the Genealogy Unit at Highland Library in Inverness

· Early maps held by the Map Library within the National Library of Scotland in Edinburgh

The following books provided background information on the history of settlement and land use in the area:

Alston, D,1999: Ross and Cromarty, a Historical Guide

Baldwin JR ed. 1994: Peoples and Settlement in North-West Ross
Black’s Guide to Scotland 1857
Dixon, JH, 1886: Gairloch and Guide to Loch Maree

Fowler, J. 2002: Landscapes and Lives: the Scottish Forest through the Ages

Hogg, J. A Tour of the Highlands in 1803

Smout TC, 2003: People and Woods in Scotland
10.0 Photographs
Cover: Site 25, building , view from South, with Caisteal Mor in the background
1. Sites 1 and 2, enclosures, Site 3, building, view from SE. The small enclosure/lambing pen is located around the large boulder topped with black lichen right of centre of the picture. Site 3, footings of building is the level platform under the bracken in the foreground.
2. Site 4, building, view from south. The tumbled stonework of the near corner appears to be a rebuild.

3. Site 5, shepherds’ cottage, view from W. showing mortared gable.

4. Site 9, Farmstead, view from SE. Almost complete gable belongs to the main dwelling, in the foreground are attached outhouses.

5. Site 10, bridge pier on west bank of Allt Chopachaidh. View from SE

6. Site 12, dykes forming enclosures, possibly stackyards, view from NE

7. Site 13, corn kiln, view from SW. The bowl is under the standing tree, top left, the fallen branch lies over the rest of the building. In the foreground a rubble dyke of one of the enclosures (site 12) runs to the bottom right of picture.
8. Site 13, corn kiln, view down into bowl

9. Site 15, Field clearance pile. Large placed boulders contain smaller stones. The mature tree behind appears to have disturbed the regular oval shape, suggesting the pile pre-dates the tree. View from NW

10. Site 16, field clearance pile, spread area of small angular stones contained by edging of larger moss-covered stones. In the background to the left os the cleared area of cultivation. View from SE

11. Site 16, field clearance pile. Tall, conical pile of large, rounded stones. View from S.
12. Site 17, pathway to ford on Allt Chopachaidh, running from centre foreground and bounded to the left by mossy boulders. View from SE
13. Site 18, field clearance piles north of cleared area of cultivation. Each pile is colonized by a group of similarly-aged trees. View from S.
14. Site 24, short section of rubble walling on high ground between cultivation area and shore, view from SE.
15. Site 25, building, view from NE showing doorway on upper side. Interior cruck frame groove is visible left of the doorway and collapsed stonework on the right represents other grooves. In the background is cleared area of cultivation.
16. Site 25, building, detail of collapsed cruck frame

17. Site 27, building. Blue tape sits on corner of stonework, view from NW

18. Site 28, farmstead, view from NW. In the foreground is small detached outhouse, in the background is main dwelling

19. Site 29, building, view from NW. The low footings are in the centre of picture, almost entirely obscured by bracken.

20. Site 30, farmstead, view from W. This structure is located within the existing area of regeneration and shows increased vegetation cover, including sapling which will ultimately damage the stonework

21. Site 30, farmstead, retaining wall of enclosure with tree growth.

22. Site 31, dyke. View from S. showing tree growing over walling.
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